FILED JANUARY 21, 2015 Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington

No. 32543-1-III IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION III

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

vs.

JAMES E. FURR,

Defendant/Appellant.

Appellant's Brief

DAVID N. GASCH WSBA No. 18270 P.O. Box 30339 Spokane, WA 99223-3005 (509) 443-9149 Attorney for Appellant

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The evidence was insufficient to sustain the conviction for second degree rape.

2. The record does not support the finding Mr. Furr has the current or future ability to pay the legal financial obligations imposed.

3. The trial court erred by imposing discretionary costs.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSINGMENTS OF ERROR

1. Mr. Furr's right to due process under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3 and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment was violated where the State failed to prove an essential element of the crime of second degree rape--that the alleged victim was incapable of consent due to her mental incapacity?

2. Should the directive to pay legal financial obligations based on a finding of current or future ability to pay be stricken from the Judgment and Sentence as clearly erroneous, where the implied finding is not supported in the record? Did the trial court abuse its discretion in imposing discretionary costs where the record does not reveal that it took Mr. Furr's financial resources into account and considered the burden it would impose on her as required by RCW 10.01.160?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

James Furr was charged and convicted of second degree rape on the sole basis that the alleged victim, Rita Evans, was incapable of consent due to mental incapacity. CP 14, 34. Prior to the incident Mr. Furr had been staying at his brother's house for approximately two months. Shortly thereafter, his brother introduced Mr. Furr to Ms. Evans who lived next door with her parents. RP 175-77. The brother and his wife had known Ms. Evans for over eight years, and interacted with her on a regular basis. She was a frequent visitor at their house, took care of their pets and even had a key to their house. RP 178. She also interacted with Mr. Furr on a number of occasions, having coffee and smoking cigarettes with him on the front porch. RP 108-09, 213-14, 244, 423-24.

The brother, who was 55 years old, and his wife thought of Ms. Evans as a daughter and part of their family. They felt Ms. Evans had the mentality of a 12-year-old and they were quite protective of her. RP 177-79, 227-28. The brother communicated these feelings to Mr. Furr. RP 179.

On the day of the incident, Mr. Furr, his brother and Ms. Evans were sitting on the couch at his brother's house watching football on television and drinking alcohol. RP 180-83. At some point, Mr. Furr and Ms. Evans went outside on the back deck to smoke cigarettes. A short time later his brother heard a noise on the back deck, looked outside and saw Mr. Furr and Ms. Evans engaging in sexual intercourse. 185-88. The brother and his wife became very upset, yelled at Mr. Furr and ordered him out of the house. RP 189-97. Mr. Furr eventually admitted having consensual sex with Ms. Evans. RP 206-08.

Ms. Evans, who was 33 years old, testified she has lived in Cle Elum since 1994 and graduated from Cle Elum high school. RP 89-90. She said she also lived in Renton and Mountlake Terrace for a time after graduation. RP 91. She testified she worked as a courtesy clerk at Safeway from 2000 until 2003. She has also worked as a waitress and is currently a housekeeper at a local motel. RP 91, 107. She said she currently lives with her father and his girlfriend but makes her own day-today decisions. RP 106.

Ms. Evans testified she not only understand the mechanics of sexual intercourse (penis and vagina) but also knows what being in love means and associates sexual intercourse with love. RP 103-04. She said she was in love with the father of her child when she got pregnant in high school. She said she got pregnant because of unprotected sex. RP 102-05. When asked what "unprotected sex" means, she stated it meant using a condom.

When asked about other reasons why people use condoms, she stated, "for STDs." When asked what STD's means she said, "Sexually transmitted diseases." When asked what are some examples of sexually transmitted diseases, she responded, "Herpes, AIDS, gonorrhea." RP 105. Ms. Evans also testified "sexually assaulted" means "I didn't give my okay." RP 106.

Dr. Paul Connor, a clinical psychologist and neuropsychologist, testifying as an expert witness for the State, said Ms. Evans suffers form fetal alcohol spectrum disorder (FASD). RP 332-36. He described his interaction with her as that of a pre-teenager, said her IQ was 65, and that she was very suggestible. RP 349, 351, 359. However, Dr. Connor also testified Ms. Evans was capable of forming emotional bonds with other people and her strength in verbal expression might lead other people to overestimate her actual abilities. CP 370-74. He also stated he could not say that Ms. Evans was unable to consent to sexual intercourse. RP 384.

Mr. Furr testified at first he thought Ms. Evans was shy and childlike, but after several conversations with her he thought she was a normal adult. Mr. Furr stated he thought Ms. Evans was more intelligent than he, due to her knowledge of history, the internet and other facts. RP 426-30, 451-53. The sentencing court ordered Mr. Furr to pay at least \$100 per

month toward his legal financial obligations upon his release. CP 33.

The sentencing court imposed discretionary costs of \$1150 and mandatory costs of \$800¹, for a total Legal Financial Obligation (LFO) of \$1950. CP 51-52. The Judgment and Sentence contained the following language:

 \P 2.5 Legal Financial Obligations/Restitution. (RCW 9.94A760) The court has considered the total amount owing, the defendant's present and future ability to pay legal financial obligations, including the defendant's financial resources and the likelihood that the defendant's status will change. (RCW 10.01.160).

CP 49.

The Court did not inquire further into Mr. Furr's financial resources and the nature of the burden payment of LFOs would impose other than ordering him to pay \$100 per month toward his legal financial obligations beginning one month after his release. CP 52; RP 593-94.

This appeal followed. CP 45.

¹ \$500 Victim Assessment, \$200 criminal filing and \$100 DNA fee. CP 51-52.

D. ARGUMENT

1. Mr. Furr's right to due process under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3 and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment was violated where the State failed to prove an essential element of the crime of second degree rape--that the alleged victim was incapable of consent due to her mental incapacity.

As a part of the due process rights guaranteed under both the Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3 and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment the state must prove every element of a crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Baeza*, 100 Wn.2d 487, 488, 670 P.2d 646 (1983); *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 1073, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970). As the United States Supreme Court explained in *Winship*: "[T]he use of the reasonable-doubt standard is indispensable to command the respect and confidence of the community in applications of the criminal law." *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. at 364.

Mere possibility, suspicion, speculation, conjecture, or even a scintilla of evidence, is not substantial evidence, and does not meet the minimum requirements of due process. *State v. Moore*, 7 Wn. App. 1, 499 P.2d 16 (1972). As a result, any conviction not supported by substantial evidence may be attacked for the first time on appeal as a due process

violation. Id. "Substantial evidence" in the context of a criminal case,

means evidence sufficient to persuade "an unprejudiced thinking mind of

the truth of the fact to which the evidence is directed." State v. Taplin, 9

Wn. App. 545, 513 P.2d 549 (1973) (quoting State v. Collins, 2 Wn. App.

757, 759, 470 P.2d 227, 228 (1970)).

RCW 9A.44.050 provides in pertinent part:

(1) A person is guilty of rape in the second degree when, under circumstances not constituting rape in the first degree, the person engages in sexual intercourse with another person:

. . .

(b) When the victim is incapable of consent by reason of being physically helpless or mentally incapacitated . . .

RCW 9A.44.010(4) provides:

"Mental incapacity" is that condition existing at the time of the offense which prevents a person from understanding the nature or consequences of the act of sexual intercourse whether that condition is produced by illness, defect, the influence of a substance or from some other cause.

The key to a proper interpretation of RCW 9A.44.010(4) is a

sufficiently broad interpretation of the word "understand". Evidence

showing that a victim has a superficial understanding of the act of sexual

intercourse does not by itself render RCW 9A.44.010(4) inapplicable.

State v. Ortega-Martinez, 124 Wash. 2d 702, 711, 881 P.2d 231 (1994).

A finding that a person is mentally incapacitated for the purposes of RCW

9A.44.010(4) is appropriate where the jury finds the victim had a condition

that prevented him or her from *meaningfully* understanding the nature or consequences of sexual intercourse. *Id*.

A meaningful understanding of the nature and consequences of sexual intercourse necessarily includes an understanding of the physical mechanics of sexual intercourse. Id. at 712; See RCW 9A.44.010(1) (broadly defining the physical acts considered to be sexual intercourse). It also includes, however, an understanding of a wide range of other particulars. For example, the nature and consequences of sexual intercourse often include the development of emotional intimacy between sexual partners; it may under some circumstances result in a disruption in one's established relationships; and, it is associated with the possibility of pregnancy with its accompanying decisions and consequences as well as the specter of disease and even death. Id. While the law does not require an alleged victim to understand any or all of these particulars before a defendant can be considered insulated from liability under RCW 9A.44.050(1)(b) for having had sexual intercourse with a mentally incapacitated individual, all of the above are elements of a meaningful understanding of the nature and consequences of sexual intercourse and are important for a trier-of-fact to bear in mind when it is evaluating whether a person had a condition which prevented him or her from having a

meaningful understanding of the nature or consequences of the act of sexual intercourse. *Id.*

In State v. Summers, the defendant was convicted of second degree rape of a 44-year-old, mentally-ill woman. The victim met the defendant on a public street. After talking to the victim and telling her to follow him, the defendant took her inside a private apartment and proceeded to have sexual intercourse with her. Although the victim knew a baby was a result of a man "put[ting] a wiener in you", she spoke in fragmented and confusing sentences, had no knowledge of sexually transmitted diseases, thought a penis was a tail, and did not know how to read. State v. Summers, 70 Wn. App. 424, 426-27, 853 P.2d 953 (1993), review denied, 122 Wn.2d 1026, 866 P.2d 40 (1993). Holding the jury had sufficient evidence from which to conclude the victim did not understand the nature or consequences of sexual intercourse, the Court of Appeals affirmed the defendant's conviction. It wrote: "The evidence showed that [the victim] had a basic understanding of the mechanical act of sexual intercourse, but this should not be equated with an understanding of its nature and consequences." Summers, 70 Wn. App. at 431, 853 P.2d 953.

Conversely, in the present case Ms. Evans testified she not only understand the mechanics of sexual intercourse (penis and vagina) but also knows what being in love means and associates sexual intercourse with love. RP 103-04. She said she was in love with the father of her child when she got pregnant in high school. She said she got pregnant because of unprotected sex. RP 102-05. When asked what "unprotected sex" meant, she stated it meant using a condom. When asked what other reasons people use condoms, she stated, "For STDs." When asked what STD's means she said, "Sexually transmitted diseases." When asked what are some examples of sexually transmitted diseases, she responded, "Herpes, AIDS, gonorrhea." RP 105. Ms. Evans also testified "sexually assaulted" means "I didn't give my okay." RP 106. Clearly, by her own testimony Ms. Evans does not have a condition that prevented her from having a meaningful understanding of the nature or consequences of the act of sexual intercourse.

Moreover, this fact was later confirmed through the testimony of the State's expert, Dr. Connor, who stated he could not say that Ms. Evans was unable to consent to sexual intercourse. RP 384.

In assessing whether the State has met its burden of showing that a victim had a condition which prevented him or her from understanding the nature or consequences of sexual intercourse at the time of an incident, the jury may evaluate, in addition to that person's testimony regarding his or her understanding, other relevant evidence such as the victim's demeanor, behavior, and clarity on the stand. *Ortega-Martinez*, 124 Wash. 2d at 714, 711, 881 P.2d 231. It may also take into consideration a victim's IQ, mental age, ability to understand fundamental, nonsexual concepts, and mental faculties generally, as well as a victim's ability to translate information acquired in one situation to a new situation. *Id*.

In Ortega-Martinez, the case-worker testified the 30-year-old victim had an IQ in the 40s and estimated her mental age to be between the ages of five and nine. Id. A police officer with experience in child abuse cases testified her mental age seemed close to that of a 4- or 5-year old. Id. He also testified she was unable to tell him where she had gotten off the bus. Id. at 715. The victim herself testified she could not read. Id. She exhibited to the jury the skills of a child whose answers were often nonresponsive. Id. When the prosecutor asked her for clarification concerning her comment that there "was something in the coffee", she stated, "There was something underneath the blanket". Id. When he asked if she had ever seen Ortega-Martinez before that night, she replied, "When I leave for him". Id. When she was asked how long she stayed in the truck, she replied "It was raining". Id. In response to a question "Where

did you go after you went over the railroad tracks?", she testified "I saw the green barn and red barn". *Id*.

By contrast, Ms. Evans had much higher mental capabilities than the victim in *Ortega-Martinez*. Ms. Evans' testimony was similar to that of a witness with normal mental faculties. She testified she was 33 years old, had lived in Cle Elum since 1994 and had graduated from Cle Elum high school. RP 89-90. She said she also lived in Renton and Mountlake Terrace for a time after graduation. RP 91. She testified she worked as a courtesy clerk at Safeway from 2000 until 2003. She has also worked as a waitress and is currently a housekeeper at a local motel. RP 91, 107. She said she currently lives with her father and his girlfriend but makes her own day-to-day decisions. RP 106.

Taking into consideration her testimony, her ability to understand fundamental, nonsexual concepts, and mental faculties in general, the State did not meet its burden of proving Ms. Evans lacked the capability to consent because of her mental incapacity.

Furthermore, Mr. Furr proved by a preponderance of the evidence that at the time of the offense he reasonably believed the victim was not mentally incapacitated. RCW 9A.44.030(1) provides:

In any prosecution under this chapter in which lack of consent is based solely upon the victim's mental incapacity or upon the victim's being physically helpless, it is a defense which the defendant must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that at the time of the offense the defendant reasonably believed that the victim was not mentally incapacitated and/or physically helpless.

Mr. Furr testified at first he thought Ms. Evans was shy and childlike, but after several conversations with her he thought she was a normal adult. Mr. Furr stated he thought Ms. Evans was more intelligent than he, due to her knowledge of history, the internet and other facts. RP 426-30, 451-53. Dr. Connor testified Ms. Evans was capable of forming emotional bonds with other people and her strength in verbal expression might lead other people to overestimate her actual abilities. CP 370-74. Dr. Connor's testimony reaffirms that it was reasonable for Mr. Furr to believe that Ms. Evans was not mentally incapacitated. Therefore, the evidence was insufficient to sustain the conviction. <u>The directive to pay based on an unsupported finding of ability</u> to pay legal financial obligations and the discretionary costs imposed without compliance with RCW 10.01.160 must be stricken from the Judgment and Sentence.²

Ms. Furr did not make this argument below. But, illegal or erroneous sentences may be challenged for the first time on appeal. *State v. Ford*, 137 Wn.2d 472, 477, 973 P.2d 452 (1999).³

a. <u>The directive to pay must be stricken</u>. There is insufficient evidence to support the trial court's implied finding that Mr. Furr has the present and future ability to pay legal financial obligations and the directive to pay must be stricken. Courts may require an indigent defendant to reimburse the state for the costs only if the defendant has the financial ability to do so. *Fuller v. Oregon*, 417 U.S. 40, 47-48, 94 S.Ct. 2116, 40 L.Ed.2d 642 (1974); *State v. Curry*, 118 Wn.2d 911, 915-16, 829 P.2d 166 (1992); RCW 10.01.160(3); RCW 9.94A.760(2). To do otherwise would violate equal protection by imposing extra punishment on a defendant due

² Assignments of Error Nos. 2 & 3,

³ Appellant is aware that this Court has issued an opinion holding that this issue may not be challenged for the first time on appeal. See State v. Duncan, No. 29916-3-III, 2014 WL 1225910, at *2-6 (March 25, 2014). However, this issue is now pending before the Washington Supreme Court in State v. Blazina, No. 89028-5, consolidated with State v. Paige-Colter, No. 89109-5. The cases were scheduled for oral argument February 11, 2014. Therefore, this issue is raised in order to preserve the argument, should the Washington Supreme Court overrule this Court's opinion in Duncan.

to his or her poverty. *Bearden v. Georgia*, 461 U.S. 660, 665, 103 S.Ct. 2064, 2071, 76 L.Ed.2d 221 (1983).

RCW 9.94A.760(1) provides that upon a criminal conviction, a superior court "may order the payment of a legal financial obligation." RCW 10.01.160(1) authorizes a superior court to "require a defendant to pay costs." These costs "shall be limited to expenses specially incurred by the state in prosecuting the defendant." RCW 10.01.160(2). In addition, "[t]he court shall not order a defendant to pay costs unless the defendant is or will be able to pay them." RCW 10.01.160(3). "In determining the amount and method of payment of costs, the court shall take account of the financial resources of the defendant and the nature of the burden that payment of costs will impose." *Id.*

While the ability to pay is a necessary threshold to the imposition of costs, a court need not make formal specific findings of ability to pay: "[n]either the statute nor the constitution requires a trial court to enter formal, specific findings regarding a defendant's ability to pay court costs." *Curry*, 118 Wn.2d at 916. However, *Curry* recognized that both RCW 10.01.160 and the federal constitution "direct [a court] to consider ability to pay." *Id.* at 915-16.

Here, there is insufficient evidence to support the trial court's finding that Mr. Furr has the present or future ability to pay legal financial obligations. Although the trial court made no express finding that Mr. Furr had the present or future ability to pay the LFOs, the finding is implied because the court ordered Mr. Furr to pay at least \$100 per month toward his legal financial obligations one month after his release. CP 52.

Whether a finding is expressed or implied, it must have support in the record. A trial court's findings of fact must be supported by substantial evidence. *State v. Brockob*, 159 Wn.2d 311, 343, 150 P.3d 59 (2006) (citing *Nordstrom Credit, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 120 Wn.2d 935, 939, 845 P.2d 1331 (1993)). The trial court's determination "as to the defendant's resources and ability to pay is essentially factual and should be reviewed under the clearly erroneous standard." *State v. Bertrand*, 165 Wn. App. 393, 267 P.3d 511, 517 fn.13 (2011), citing *State v. Baldwin*, 63 Wn. App. 303, 312, 818 P.2d 1116, 837 P.2d 646 (1991).

"Although *Baldwin* does not require formal findings of fact about a defendant's present or future ability to pay LFOs, the record must be sufficient for [the appellate court] to review whether 'the trial court judge took into account the financial resources of the defendant and the nature of the burden imposed by LFOs under the clearly erroneous standard."

Bertrand, 165 Wn. App. 393, 267 P.3d at 517, citing *Baldwin*, 63 Wn. App. at 312 (bracketed material added) (internal citation omitted). A finding that is unsupported in the record must be stricken. *Bertrand*, 165 Wn. App. 393, 267 P.3d at 517.

Here, despite the boilerplate language in paragraph 2.5 of the judgment and sentence, the record does not show the trial court took into account Mr. Furr's financial resources and the nature of the burden of imposing LFOs on him. The record contains no evidence to support the trial court's implied finding that he has the present or future ability to pay LFOs. RP 593-94.

Therefore, the implied finding that Mr. Furr has the present or future ability to pay LFOs is simply not supported in the record. Since it is clearly erroneous, the directive must be stricken from the Judgment and Sentence. *Bertrand*, 165 Wn. App. 393, 267 P.3d at 517.

This remedy of striking the unsupported finding is supported by case law. Findings of fact that are unsupported by substantial evidence, or findings that are insufficient to support imposition of a sentence are stricken and the underlying conclusion or sentence is reversed. *State v. Lohr*, 164 Wn. App. 414, 263 P.3d 1287, 1289-92 (2011); *State v. Schelin*, 147 Wn.2d 562, 584, 55 P.3d 632 (2002) (Sanders, J. dissenting). There appears to be no controlling contrary authority holding that it is appropriate to send a factual finding without support in the record back to a trial court for purposes of "fixing" it with the taking of new evidence. *Cf. State v. Souza* (vacation and remand to permit entry of further findings was proper where evidence was sufficient to permit finding that was omitted, the State was not relieved of the burden of proving each element of charged offense beyond reasonable doubt, and insufficiency of findings could be cured without introduction of new evidence), 60 Wn. App. 534, 541, 805 P.2d 237, recon. denied, rev. denied, 116 Wn.2d 1026 (1991); *Lohr* (where evidence is insufficient to support suppression findings, the State does not have a second opportunity to meet its burden of proof), 164 Wn. App. 414, 263 P.3d at 1289–92.

b. <u>The imposition of discretionary costs of \$1150 must also be</u> <u>stricken</u>. Since the record does not reveal that the trial court took Mr. Furr's financial resources into account and considered the burden it would impose on him as required by RCW 10.01.160, the imposition of discretionary costs must be stricken from the judgment and sentence. A court's determination as to the defendant's resources and ability to pay is essentially factual and should be reviewed under the clearly erroneous standard. *Baldwin*, 63 Wn. App. at 312. The decision to impose discretionary costs requires the trial court to balance the defendant's ability to pay against the burden of his obligation. This is a judgment which requires discretion and should be reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Id*.

The trial court may order a defendant to pay discretionary costs pursuant to RCW 10.01.160. But,

The court shall not order a defendant to pay costs unless the defendant is or will be able to pay them. In determining the amount and method of payment of costs, the court shall take account of the financial resources of the defendant and the nature of the burden that payment of costs will impose.

RCW 10.01.160(3). It is well-established that this provision does not require the trial court to enter formal, specific findings. See *Curry*, 118 Wn.2d at 916. Rather, it is only necessary that the record is sufficient for the appellate court to review whether the trial court took the defendant's financial resources into account. *Bertrand*, 165 Wn. App. at 404.

Here, the court imposed discretionary costs of \$1150. The record reveals no further balancing by the court of Mr. Furr's financial resources and the nature of the burden that payment of LFOs would impose on him. 10/25/13 RP 10-17.

In sum the record reveals the trial court did not take Mr. Furr's particular financial resources and his ability (or not) to pay into account as required by RCW 10.01.160(3). The implied finding of ability to pay is

unsupported by the record and clearly erroneous. Further, the court's imposition of discretionary costs without compliance with the balancing requirements of RCW 10.01.160(3) was an abuse of discretion. The remedy is to strike the directive to pay *and* the imposition of the discretionary costs. *Bertrand*, 165 Wn. App. at 405.

D. CONCLUSION

٠

For the reasons stated the conviction should be reversed. The matter should also be remanded for resentencing to strike the directive to pay and the imposition of discretionary costs from the Judgment and Sentence.