COA No. 32543-1-III

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION III
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FILED
MAY 22, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

JAMES E. FURR, Appellant.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Kittitas County Prosecutor's Office
205 W. 5th Street, Suite 213
Ellensburg, Washington 98926
509-962-7520

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

ARGUMENT

- 1. THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE FOR THE JURY TO FIND THAT THE STATE PROVED THE CRIME OF RAPE IN THE SECOND DEGREE (TO WIT: THE ADULT VICTIM WAS INCAPABLE OF CONSENT, BY REASON OF BEING MENTALLY INCAPACITATED – STEMMING FROM FETAL ALCOHOL SYNDROME) AFTER HEARING TESTIMONY FROM THE ADULT VICTIM, HER FRIENDS AND FAMILY, AND EXPERT TESTIMONY FROM A CLINICAL PSYCHOLOGIST IN CONTRAST WITH THE APPELLANT'S TESTIMONY.**

Evidence is sufficient if a “rational fact finder could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.” State v. Drum, 168 Wash.2d 23, 34-35, 225 P.3d 237 (2010) (*quoting State v. Wentz*, 149 Wash.2d 342, 347, 68 P.3d 282 (2003)). An appellant, when challenging sufficiency of evidence, admits the truth of the State’s evidence and all reasonable inferences therein. Id. at 35. A distinction between direct and circumstantial evidence is not made; circumstantial evidence is considered “equally reliable” in determining sufficiency. State v. Delmarter, 94 Wash.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980). The court gives the fact finder deference to any issue of witness credibility, persuasiveness of evidence, or conflicting testimony. State v. Thomas, 150 Wash.2d 821, 874–75, 83 P.3d 970 (2004). All evidence is viewed in the light most favorable to the state. State v. Colquitt, 133 Wn.App. 789, 796, 137 P.3d 892 (2006).

On a claim of insufficiency of the evidence, the reviewing court considers whether, after viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the state, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992).

RCW 9A.44.050 provides that a person is guilty of the crime of

Rape in the Second Degree if the person has sexual intercourse with another person who is incapable of consent by reason of being mentally incapacitated, defined as a “condition existing at the time of the offense which prevent a person from understanding the nature or consequences of the act of sexual intercourse whether that condition is produced by illness, defect, the influence of a substance or from some other cause.” RCW 9A.44.010(4).

A rational trier of fact can conclude from victim’s testimony that victim was mentally incapacitated and did not understand nature or consequences of sexual intercourse even without expert testimony. State v. Summers, 70 Wn. App. 424, 853 P.2d 953 Review Denied (1993).

Even in the case cited by the Appellant, State v. Ortega-Martinez, 124 Wn.2d 702, 881 P.2d 231 (1994), and conceded in Appellant’s Brief: “... the jury may evaluate, in addition to that person’s testimony regarding his or her understanding, other relevant evidence such as the victim’s demeanor, behavior, and clarity on the stand.”

In this case, the jury was able to look at Rita, listen to Rita, and assess her physical and mental abilities based upon what they observed and heard from her when she responded to questions on both direct and cross-examination. The jury was able to hear from the Appellant’s older brother who both provided his assessment of the victim’s mental

limitations and testified that he told his younger brother that Rita had the mind of a child.

The jury was able to hear from Dr. Connor and decide whether his testimony and conclusion about Rita's mental abilities and disabilities comported with what they saw and heard from Rita.

Last, the jury was able to assess the credibility of the Appellant's testimony and decide for themselves whether it was reasonable for the Appellant to believe that Rita was capable of consent in the absence of any mental incapacity. The jury clearly did not find the Appellant's account compelling who, in challenging the sufficiency of the evidence, must admit the truth of the State's evidence and all reasonable inferences therein.

The totality of the evidence, combined with the facts and circumstances of the case, permitted the jury to reasonably find that the State of Washington introduced sufficient evidence to prove the essential element of the crime of Rape in the Second Degree – that the victim was incapable of consent due to her mental incapacity.

Therefore, the Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

2. THERE IS NO REASON TO STRIKE THE TRIAL COURT'S IMPOSITION OF LEGAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS AND DISCRETIONARY COSTS BECAUSE THE APPELLANT HAS A REMEDY AT LAW UPON HIS RELEASE AND THE APPELLANT CANNOT BE DEEMED "INDIGENT" AT THIS TIME BECAUSE HIS FOOD, CLOTHING, HOUSING, AND HEALTH CARE NEEDS ARE ALL MET BY THE WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS.

A motion to vacate costs from the Judgment and Sentence is not proper and not ripe for review, at this time, because the defendant has an adequate remedy at law. Once imposed, a defendant may only obtain an adjustment to the LFO's by following the procedure in RCW 10.01.160(4) as to trial costs:

(4) A defendant who has been ordered to pay costs and who is not in contumacious default in the payment thereof may at any time petition the sentencing court for remission of the payment of costs or of any unpaid portion thereof. If it appears to the satisfaction of the court that payment of the amount due will impose manifest hardship on the defendant or the defendant's immediate family, the court may remit all or part of the amount due in costs, or modify the method of payment under RCW 10.01.170.

RCW 10.73.160(4) provides, as to appellate court costs:

(4) A defendant or juvenile offender who has been sentenced to pay costs and who is not in contumacious default in the payment may at any time petition the court that sentenced the defendant or juvenile offender for remission of the payment of costs or of any unpaid portion. If it appears to the satisfaction of the sentencing court that payment of the amount due will impose manifest hardship on the defendant, the defendant's immediate family, or the juvenile offender, the sentencing

court may remit all or part of the amount due in costs, or modify the method of payment under RCW 10.01.170.

A motion for remission of costs may be filed at any time. A defendant may even file multiple motions for remission of costs. Fortunately, remission requires a showing of "manifest hardship". Mere indigency is insufficient. Even more important, a decision denying a defendant's motion for remission of costs is not an appealable order. *See State v. Smits*, 152 Wn. App. 514 (2009).

In this case, the trial court record found that "right now there's no reason to think" that the Appellant could not work. The trial court found that the Appellant was "able-bodied and strong – and intelligent." Further, the trial court found that it was premature for the Appellant to challenge the imposition of LFOs, to be paid at a rate of \$100 per month, "commencing one month after you are released from incarceration," because "we will cross that bridge when we come to it." CP 593-594.

The record establishes that the Appellant is not "indigent" in the constitutional sense. A person is "indigent" in the constitutional sense only when he lacks any assets and cannot meet his housing and food needs. *See State v. Johnson*, 179 Wn.2d 534, 553-54, 315 P.3d 1090, *cert. denied*, 83 U.S.L.W. 3188 (Oct. 6, 2014). Indigency, moreover, is a relative term that must be considered and measured in each case by reference to the need or

service to be met. *Id.*, at 555; *State v. Rutherford*, 63 Wn.2d 949, 953-54, 389 P.2d 895 (1964).

Here, the Appellant, 55, is employable at the prison. His meals, housing, clothing, and health care needs are all met by the Washington State Department of Corrections, leaving him more "disposable income" from which to reimburse the public for the cost of the instant litigation. *Cf. Braden v. Estelle*, 428 F. Supp. 595 (S.D. Tex. 1977) (because inmates are provided the necessities of life even small bank accounts may be able to afford the costs of litigation); *Temple v. Ellertorpe*, 586 F. Supp. 848, 851 (D. R.I. 1984) (surveying cases in which in forma pauperis status was denied for prisoners who had access to funds ranging from \$45.00 to \$500.00).

Imposing costs will not deprive the Appellant of such "small physical and material comforts", *In re Williamson*, 786 F.2d 1336, 1339 (8th Cir. 1986), that are available to him in prison. During any remaining period of confinement, the State's collection of appellate costs will be restricted to a small percentage of the Appellant's earnings. *See generally* RCW 72.09.111(no more than 20 percent of wages may be deducted to pay legal financial obligations); RCW 72.09.480 (same). No deductions, moreover, will be made from the Appellant's earnings if he is an "indigent inmate." *See* RCW 72.09.111(1).¹

Upon the appellant's release, if the rate currently set (\$100/month) proves to be too much, the Appellant will have the ability to seek a modification, and the trial court, unlike an appellate court, will have the capacity to hear and weigh evidence in setting an appropriate amount. *See* RCW 10.73.160(4).

Therefore, the trial court's imposition of LFOs and discretionary costs should be affirmed.